

**BY-LAWS  
OF THE  
WILKES-BARRE LAW AND  
LIBRARY ASSOCIATION.**

**A 501(c)(6) Non-Profit  
Corporation.**

(Adopted October 16, 1995).

Amended  
January 17, 2017.

And Amended  
January 21, 2021.

## ARTICLE I

A. **Name**. The official name of the organization shall be WILKES-BARRE LAW AND LIBRARY ASSOCIATION. It may also be known as the LUZERNE COUNTY BAR ASSOCIATION.

B. **Principal Office**. The principal office of the Wilkes-Barre Law and Library Association (Association) shall be located in the Luzerne County Court House or at such other place or places as the Executive Committee of the Association shall from time to time decide.

## ARTICLE II

A. **Membership**. All lawyers in good standing, duly qualified and authorized to practice law in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and having a principal office or residence located in the County of Luzerne, Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, shall be eligible for membership in the Association.

B. **New Members**. All lawyers in good standing, duly qualified and authorized to practice law in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and having a principal office or residence located in the County of Luzerne for the first time shall be members of the Association. New members' dues will not be payable for the first eighteen (18) months of their membership. In order for a new member to remain as a member, dues at the applicable rate as provided herein must be paid on or before the first day of July following that eighteen (18) months.

C. **Young Lawyer Members.** All lawyers in good standing, duly qualified and authorized to practice law in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania with an office or residence located in the County of Luzerne, Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, who are age forty (40) years or younger or having been practicing law five (5) years or less, shall be eligible for young lawyer membership in the Association.

D. **Associate Members.** All lawyers in good standing, duly qualified and authorized to practice law in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, but not having a principal office or residence located in the County of Luzerne, Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, shall be privileged to apply for an associate membership in the Association upon such terms and conditions as the Executive Committee of the Association may from time to time determine. Such membership shall not carry with it, however, the privilege of voting.

E. **Honorary Members.** Judges of the appellate Courts of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the United States and such lawyers as the Executive Committee may from time to time nominate, may be elected to honorary membership in the Association at its annual meeting. Such members shall not carry with it, however, the privilege of voting.

F. **Student Membership.** A law student in good standing who: (i) is registered in a Pennsylvania law school; (ii) is a resident of this Commonwealth and is registered in any law school accredited by the American Bar Association; or (iii) states a present intention to practice law in Pennsylvania after graduation from any American Bar Association accredited law school shall be privileged to apply for a student membership in the Association upon such terms and condi-

ions as the Executive Committee of the Association may from time to time determine. Such membership shall not carry with it, however, the privilege of voting. [Includes Luzerne County College/University Students].

**G. Member Discipline.**

1. The Membership Committee, as established as an ad hoc committee from time to time by the President of the Association, may discipline any member of the Association upon the occurrence of any of the following events that may occur at the Association office or an Association function or sponsored event or in connection with the planning, attendance at, or implementation of an event or activity: (a) violation of the By-Laws of the Association; (b) engaging in conduct that is detrimental to the legal profession or the purposes, objectives or goals of the Association; (c) engaging in malfeasance; or (d) engaging in unethical or offensive conduct or any other conduct that brings discredit to the Association or unreasonably interferes with or disrupts the Business of the Association.

2. Discipline shall include, but not be limited to the following: letter of reprimand, suspension from membership or expulsion from membership.

3. An allegation that one or more of the events set forth above has occurred shall be made in writing and addressed to the President of the Association within one hundred and eighty (180) days of the date of the event or events.

4. The President shall convene a meeting of the Membership Committee of the Association within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of the written allegation. The Membership Committee shall take reasonable measures to ensure privacy of the parties. The Membership Committee shall in its sole and broad discretion determine by a simple majority, whether further investigation is warranted, the scope of the investigation, and the issuance

of any provisional remedies. However, if the allegation gives rise to civil, criminal or disciplinary action, any action by the Membership Committee or Executive Committee shall be stayed pending resolution of said action.

a. If the Membership Committee determines that no further investigation is warranted and that the allegation is unfounded, the Chair of the Membership Committee shall notify the complainant in writing of the decision of the Membership Committee.

b. If the Membership Committee determines that further investigation is warranted, the Chair shall appoint one or more of the members of the Membership Committee to conduct the investigation (the “Investigation Subcommittee”), which investigation shall be completed within thirty (30) calendar days and a written report shall be provided to the remaining members of the Membership Committee.

i. Within fifteen (15) business days of receiving the report, the Membership Committee shall meet to discuss the report.

ii. At said meeting, the Membership Committee, exclusive of the Investigation Subcommittee, shall determine whether or not discipline is warranted.

c. If the Membership Committee, exclusive of the Investigation Subcommittee, determines that discipline is not warranted, the Chair shall notify the complainant and the member, in writing, of the decision of the Membership Committee.

d. If the Membership Committee, exclusive of the Investigation Subcommittee, determines that discipline is warranted, the Chair shall notify the member, in writing, at least twenty (20) calendar days prior to the date of a meeting at which the Membership Committee will take place with regard to the member’s discipline. The member shall be permitted to be heard

at such meeting in person, or by counsel, at his/her sole expense, prior to the vote being taken. If the member fails to notify the Chair five (5) business days prior to the meeting that he/she intends to appear or have counsel appear at the meeting, the Membership Committee may deem the discipline to be unopposed.

e. After permitting the member the opportunity to be heard at said meeting, if the member elects to be heard, the Membership Committee, exclusive of the Investigation Subcommittee, shall vote on the form of discipline to be imposed on the member, which vote shall be a simple majority.

f. Within five (5) business days of said meeting, the Chair shall notify the member and complainant, in writing, of the decision of the Membership Committee.

(5) A member who has been subject to any sanction pursuant to the foregoing procedures shall have the right to appeal the decision of the Membership Committee to the Executive Committee within twenty (20) business days after receiving written notice of discipline by notifying the President, in writing, of the appeal. Upon receipt of such appeal, the President shall call a special meeting of the Executive Committee to take place no later than thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of the appeal. The proceedings before the Executive Committee shall not be confidential. At such meeting, the member who may be represented by counsel at his/her sole expense, shall appear in person and shall have an opportunity to be heard. The Complainant shall appear in person and may be represented by counsel at his/her sole expense. The Executive Committee shall then vote to approve or disapprove the decision of the Membership Committee. A two-thirds (2/3) majority of the members of the Executive Committee present at the meeting shall be required to approve the decision of the Membership Committee. The decision of the Executive Committee shall be final.

### ARTICLE III

A. **Dues.** The annual dues of the Association for members, young lawyer members, and associate members shall be fixed at the annual meeting of the Association. The Executive Committee will maintain the power to waive or reduce member and young lawyer dues because of illness or hardship.

B. **Collection of Dues.** Dues shall be payable and collected in such manner and upon such terms and conditions as the Executive Committee shall from time to time determine.

C. **Ineligibility to Vote.** Members whose dues shall not have been paid at the time of the annual meeting shall be ineligible to vote. It shall be the duty of the Treasurer of the Association to publish in *The Luzerne Legal Register* immediately prior to the annual meeting a list of all members in good standing for the annual meeting, and to post a similar list in the Law Library at the Luzerne County Court House.

D. **Dismissal for Failure to Pay Dues.** A member who shall have failed to pay his or hers dues for a period of one (1) year after notice thereof shall be dropped from the rolls of the Association.

E. **Reinstatement of Membership.** Reinstatement shall be in accordance with the terms and conditions prescribed by the Executive Committee.

## ARTICLE IV

**A. Officers.** The officers of the Association shall be as follows: a President; a Vice President, a Secretary, a Treasurer, and an Executive Committee of no more than nine (9) which shall include the officers of the Association recited in this section and the five (5) members thereof. All shall be members of the Association in good standing.

**B. Duties of the Officers.**

1. The president shall preside at all meetings of the Association and of the Executive Committee, shall have general and active management of the business of the Association and shall see that all orders and resolutions of the Association and/or the Executive Committee are carried into effect. He shall have, with the approval of the Executive Committee, the right to hire and discharge any or all employees of the Association. He shall have the right to appoint committees upon the request of the Association or upon his own initiative, to represent the Association in all matters pertaining thereof, and to exercise the general powers and duties of supervision and management usually vested in the office of President of an Association.

2. The Vice-President shall discharge the duties of the President whenever the President, for any reason, cannot discharge the duties of his office. In the event of the death, the resignation, or the inability to serve of the President, the Vice-President shall assume the duties of the President until the next annual elections of officers, or until a successor shall have been elected.

3. The offices of Secretary and Treasurer may be held by one person. It shall be the duty of the Secretary to give due and timely notice of meetings, regular or special, to all members in good standing of the Association; to attend to all correspondence for and on behalf of the Association; to maintain and preserve an up-to-date and accurate list of all members in good standing of the Association; to attend all meetings and to keep accurate minutes and records of the Association and to perform such other duties as are generally performed by a Secretary and more particularly as may be directed by the President or Executive Committee of the Association.

4. It shall be the duty of the Treasurer to send notices of dues annually to all the members of the Association; to receive and properly receipt for dues; to keep complete an accurate records of all financial transactions of the Association; to receive from the proper officers and receipt for fines or forfeited recognizances; to deposit and keep deposited all moneys of the Association in the name of the Association, and to report, on call of the President or the Executive Committee, and at every annual meeting of the Association, on the financial situation of the Association.

5. The Treasurer shall furnish a bond, with surety or sureties, conditioned on the proper performance of his duties. The amount and terms of said bond shall be fixed and the sureties approved by the President and the Executive Committee.

6. The Executive Committee, other than the officers, shall consist of five (5) members; two (2) members of said

Committee shall be retained from service of like character From the immediate previous Executive Committee; one (1) member shall be such person as shall have practiced law for a period of less than ten (10) years; two (2) members shall be such as shall have practiced law more than ten (10) years.

7. It shall be the duty of the Executive Committee to supervise generally the business affairs of the Association, to transact such business of the Association as may require its attention between the meeting of the Association, to authorize any unusual or extraordinary expenditures, to approve or disapprove any book purchase recommendations of the library Committee, subject, however, to Article VIII, infra, to consider, supervise and advise on the investment or reinvestment, retention or disposal of funds and securities of the Association; to receive financial reports and make annual, or more frequent when called upon, reports to the Association of the business affairs of the Association, and the financial situation of all investments of the Association. The Executive Committee may appoint an Executive Director of the Association, whose duties shall be such as shall be assigned by the Executive Committee.

8. No honorary or associate member shall be eligible for nomination or election to any office of the Association.

C. **Term of Office.** The officers and Executive Committee members of the Association shall serve for a period of two (2) years at which time a successor or successors shall be chosen as herein provided. No member shall serve as the same officer or on the Executive Committee in the same

capacity for more than one (1) term, with the exception of the office of Secretary-Treasurer.

## ARTICLE V

A. **Annual Meeting.** The annual meeting of the Association shall be held on the third Tuesday of January of each year, or on a date not more than seven (7) days thereafter, at the Law Library in the Luzerne County Court House, or at any convenient place designated by the President or the Executive Committee. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, or any other provision of these Bylaws, if a meeting (whether it be the annual meeting, a quarterly meeting or a special meeting) of the Association is held by means of the internet or other electronic communications technology in a fashion pursuant to which the members have the opportunity to read or hear the proceedings substantially concurrently with their occurrence, vote on matters submitted to the members, post questions to the officers, make appropriate motions and comment on the business of the meeting, then the meeting need not be held at a particular geographic location. At the annual meeting there shall be the election of officers for the current year, reports from all standing or special committees, if any, and a complete and accurate financial report, both by the Treasurer and the Executive Committee of the Association.

B. 1. **Notice of the Annual Meeting.** Notice of the annual meeting shall be published in a conspicuous place in *The Luzerne Legal Register* once a week for three (3) successive weeks immediately prior to the date of such annual meeting.

2. **Quarterly Meeting and Notice Thereof.** Quarterly meetings of the Association shall be held on the third Monday of April, July and October of each year, or on a date not more than seven (7) days thereafter. The quarterly meeting for July may be omitted or

called at the discretion of the President, or upon written request of ten (10) members in good standing. Notice of such quarterly meetings shall be given in the same manner as required for the annual meeting.

3. **Special Meetings and Notice Thereof.** Special meetings of the Association may be called at the discretion of the President or shall be called upon the written request on ten (10) members of the Association in good standing. Notice on any such meeting shall be given, in writing, to each member in good standing of the Association at least seven (7) days prior to the time of such meeting and also by notice published in a conspicuous place in *The Luzerne Legal Register* in the week immediately preceding such meeting.

C. **Quorum.** At the annual meeting of the Association twenty-five (25) members shall constitute a quorum for the conduct of business. At any quarterly or special meeting of the Association a quorum shall consist of fifteen (15) members. A quorum of the Executive Committee shall consist of five (5) members. The presence or participation, including voting and taking other action, at a meeting of the members of the Association or the expression of consent or dissent to a corporate action by a member by conference telephone or other electronic means, including, without limitation, the internet, shall constitute the presence of, or vote or action by, or consent or dissent of the member for purposes of these Bylaws.

## ARTICLE VI

A. **Committees**. Standing Committees of the Association shall be as follows:

1. Committee on Unauthorized Practice of Law.
2. Pro Bono Committee.
3. Committee on the Library.
4. Committee of Public Relations.
5. Committee of CLE.
6. Committee of Civil Rules.
7. Committee on Criminal Law.
8. Committee on Investments.

B. **Appointment to Committees**. Such standing Committees shall be appointed by the President of the Association within sixty (60) days after the President shall have been elected.

C. **Power to Appoint Committees**. The President of the Association shall have the power to appoint any special committee or committees in his discretion necessary for the proper conduct of the business of the Association, and any vacancies occurring in either the standing or the special committees.

B. **Lay Advisory Committee**.

1. There shall be a committee of lay persons who shall be residents of Luzerne County. This committee shall be known as the "Lay Advisory Committee" and shall consist of five (5) members. The President of the Association shall appoint the members of the Lay Advisory Committee, who shall serve for a term of three (3) years. The terms of the members shall be staggered, and initially the President shall appoint such members of the Lay Advisory Committee to terms which shall

comply with this provision. The members of the Lay Advisory Committee shall be given notice of and attend all meetings of the Executive Committee, without the right to vote.

2. The purpose and objective of the Lay Advisory Committee shall be to relay to the Association the attitudes and positions of lay persons and the community in relationship to the functions of the Association which are (i) service to the public; (ii) administration of justice; (iii) service to the members of the Association.

## ARTICLE VII

A. **Nomination of Officers.** At or before the quarterly meeting in October, the President, with the approval of the Executive Committee, shall appoint a Nominating Committee of five (5) members in good standing whose duty shall be to submit nominations for the offices of President, Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer or Secretary-Treasurer, and the Executive Committee whose terms will be expiring the following year. It has been the custom of the Nominating Committee that the Vice-President will be nominated as President.

B. **Time in which Nominations shall be made.** Nominations must be made by this Committee on or before the first day of December of the year prior to the annual meeting and presented to the Secretary by that time. It shall then be the duty of the Secretary of the Association to post a list of such nominations in the Law Library at the Luzerne County Court House, and to publish this list of such nominations in *The Luzerne Legal Register* at least twice.

**C. Additional Nominations.**

1. Any ten (10) members of the Association in good standing may make additional nominations for any office or offices by submitting such additional nominations to the Secretary of the Association at least three (3) weeks prior to the annual meeting. The list of such additional nominations shall be posted in the Law Library at the Luzerne County Court House and published in *The Luzerne Legal Register* at least twice.

2. No nominations may be made except as hereinabove provided.

ARTICLE VIII

A. **Library and Rooms.** The Law Library at the Luzerne County Court House shall be for the free and exclusive use of members of the Association in good standing including associate and honorary members, and for visiting members of other law or legal associations.

B. **Librarian.** The Law Library shall be under the control of a Librarian to be selected by the President and subject to the approval of the Executive Committee. The Secretary or Executive Director of the Association shall be eligible for the position of Librarian.

C. **Removal of Books.** Books may be taken from the Law Library by the Judges for use in Court rooms or Chambers upon a written order, therefore, and upon giving to the Librarian a receipt for such books taken.

D. **Rules and Regulations.** The Executive Committee shall determine the rules and regulations pursuant to which the members of the Association in good standing may

remove any books, pamphlets, articles or other documents and instruments from the Law Library at the Luzerne County Court House. The rules and regulations promulgated by the Executive Committee with regard to the removal of same shall be posted by the Librarian in a conspicuous place in the Law Library. The rules and regulations shall also provide for the discipline or sanctions which shall be imposed by the Association for the violation of such rules and regulations, including barring such members from using the Law Library and/or dismissal from membership in the Association.

The rules and regulations shall also provide for discipline or sanctions to be imposed upon any member who shall deface or otherwise destroy any such book, pamphlet, article or other document or instrument.

E. **Purpose of Library**. The Law Library shall be used only for the purpose of research and study and not for any other purpose or purposes.

F. **Purchases**. The Committee on the Library shall have the right to make book purchases, without the approval of the Executive Committee, provided that such purchases shall not exceed in any one (1) year Five Hundred (\$500.00) Dollars or such sum as may hereinafter be fixed at an Annual meeting of the Association. The limitation thus fixed shall not apply to or include "loose-leaf" or other so-called "services". Book purchases in excess of \$500.00 for any given year shall be made with prior approval of the Executive Committee.

## ARTICLE IX

### **Remittance of Fines or Forfeited Recognizances.**

Repealed by Judicial Code (42 PA. C. S.) – PROFESSIONAL BONDSMEN, AUTHORIZATION TO CONDUCT BUSINESS WITHIN EACH COUNTY, FORFEITED UNDERTAKING, PRIVATE CAUSE OF ACTION AND THIRD-PARTY SURETIES, Act of Jul. 2, 2015, P.L. 110, No. 16.

## ARTICLE X

**Memorials of Members.** In the event of the death of any member in good standing of the Association, the President shall appoint a Committee which shall draw up a fitting and suitable memorandum, noting the death of such member. Such memorandum shall be published in *The Luzerne Legal Register*, a copy thereof sent to the family of the deceased member, and a copy entered upon the minutes of the Association.

## ARTICLE XI

**Amendment.** These By-Laws may be altered, changed or amended only upon the suggestion, in writing, of five (5) members of the Association in good standing, submitted to the Executive Committee and the President. Upon receipt of such suggestion the President and Executive Committee shall give notice of the proposed alteration, change or amendment by publication thereof in *The Luzerne Legal Register* in two (2) successive issues, and such proposal may then be considered at any subsequent regular or special meeting of the Association. Upon such consideration at such regular or special meeting of the Association, no change, alteration or amendment to the By-Laws shall be made unless approved by two-thirds of the members present. Upon approval of these By-Laws as set

forth in Article XII(A.), the prior By-Laws are hereby repealed.

## ARTICLE XII

**Young Lawyers' Division.** There shall be a Young Lawyers' Division of the Wilkes-Barre Law and Library Association ("Young Lawyers' Division"). The Young Lawyers' Division shall be governed by such By-Laws as its membership shall create and maintain except that no person shall be a member of the Young Lawyers' Division unless he is a member in good standing of the Wilkes-Barre Law and Library Association.

The Chairperson of the Young Lawyers' Division shall be a member ex officio of the Executive Committee of the Wilkes-Barre Law and Library Association but shall have no vote and in that capacity shall keep the Wilkes-Barre Law and Library Association informed of the activities of the Young Lawyers' Division.

## ARTICLE XIII

**Indemnification.** Section 1. The Association shall indemnify any indemnified representative (as defined below) who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, by reason of the fact that such person is or was a member of the Executive Committee or officer of the Association or a member of a committee of the Association acting in such capacity, against expenses (including attorney's fees) judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with such action, suit or proceeding, whether or not the indemnified liability arises or arose from any threatened, pending or completed action by or in the right of the Association to

the extent that such person is not otherwise indemnified and to the extent that such indemnification is not prohibited by applicable law.

1. a. “indemnified representative” shall be defined as any and all past or present members of the Executive Committee, Lay Advisory Committee, officers of the Association, and any other person designated as an indemnified representative by the Executive Committee of the Association.

b. An indemnified representative shall not be personally liable for monetary damages for any action taken, or any failure to take any action, unless (i) the indemnified representative has breached or failed to perform the duties of his/her office under subchapter B of Chapter 57 of the Pennsylvania Non-Profit Corporation Law and (ii) the breach or failure to perform constitutes self-dealing, willful misconduct or recklessness as defined by 15 Pa. C.S.A. §5746(b). The provisions of this section shall not apply to (i) the violation of a criminal statute or (ii) the liability of an indemnified representative for the payment of taxes pursuant to local, state, or federal law. Any repeal or modification of this section shall be prospective only, and shall not affect to the detriment of any indemnified representative, any limitation on the personal liability of a indemnified representative of the Association existing at the time of such repeal or modification.

c. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article, the Association shall not indemnify under this Article an indemnified representative for any liability incurred in a proceeding initiated (which shall not be deemed to include counter-claims or affirmative

defenses) or participated in as an intervenor or *amicus curiae* by the person seeking indemnification unless such initiation of or participation in the proceeding is authorized either before or after its commencement, by the affirmative vote of majority of the Executive Committee in office.

2. An indemnified representative shall be entitled to indemnification within a reasonable time after providing prompt notice in writing to the President and Secretary of the Association. Prompt notice shall be defined as within reasonable period of time after receipt of knowledge of claim or potential claim and prior to any delay which would affect or diminish the Association ability to dispose of or defend the indemnified representation against the claim. A member of the Association who is not otherwise designated as an indemnified representative may request such status by making written application to the Executive Committee.

3. Expenses incurred by an indemnified representative in defending a civil or criminal action, suit, or proceeding shall be paid by the Association in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the indemnified representative or officer to repay such amount if it shall ultimately be determined that such person is not entitled to be indemnified by the Association.

4. No modification or repeal of any provision of this Article shall affect, to the detriment of the member, indemnified representative, the obligation of the Association to indemnify or to advance expenses to an indemnified representative in connection with a claim based on any act or failure to act occurring before such modification or repeal.

5. The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by this Article shall not be deemed exclusive of any other right to which an indemnified representative may be entitled under any agreement, vote of members of the Executive Committee or otherwise, both as to action in such person's official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding the office, and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of any such person.

6. Any dispute related to the right to indemnification, contribution or advancement of expenses as provided under this Article shall be decided only by arbitration in Luzerne County, in accordance with the commercial arbitration rules then in effect of the American Arbitration Association, before a panel of three arbitrators, one of whom shall be selected by the Association, the second whom shall be selected by the indemnified representative and the third of who shall be selected by the other two arbitrators. In the absence of the American Arbitration Association, or if for any reason arbitration under the arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association cannot be initiated, or if one of the parties fails or refuses to select an arbitrator, or if the arbitrators selected by the Association and the indemnified representative cannot agree on the selection of the third arbitrator within 30 days after such time as the Association and the indemnified representative have each

been notified of the selection of the other's arbitrator, the necessary arbitrator or arbitrators shall be selected by the presiding judge of the Court of Common Pleas of Luzerne County. The party or parties challenging the right of an indemnified representative to the benefits of this Article shall have the burden of proof. The Association shall reimburse the indemnified representative for the expenses (including attorney's fees and disbursements) incurred in successfully prosecuting or defending such arbitration. Any award entered by the arbitrators shall be final, binding and non-appealable and judgment may be entered thereon by any party in accordance with applicable law in any court of competent jurisdiction. This arbitration provision shall be specifically enforceable.

7. The membership shall have the power to (i) authorize the Association to purchase and maintain at the Association expense, insurance on behalf of the Association and others to the extent that power to do so has not been prohibited by applicable law, (ii) create any fund of any nature, whether or not under the control of a trustee, or otherwise secure any of its indemnification obligations, and (iii) give other indemnification to the extent not prohibited by statute."

END.